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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JENEAKE TORRES
Plaintiff,
V. . No. 5:17ev-01890
COUNTY OF BERKS

Defendant.

OPINION
Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment,ECF No. 30 -Granted

Joseph F. Leeson, Jr. January 26, 2018
United States District Judge

Introduction

Defendant County of Berks moves summary judgment on Plaintifieneake Torres’s
claims that the Countfl) discriminated against her on the basis ofcheability andon the basis
of her exercising her rights under the Family and Medical Leave Act (F\VA#)(2) interfered
with her rights under the FMLA. Because Torres has failegtdorthfacts from which a
reasonable jury could find in her favor on these claims, the County’s motion is granted.
I. Background

The following facts are either undisputed or viewed in the light most favomblerites,
the non-moving party.
A. Torres’s employment atthe Berks County Residential Center

Torres began memgdoyment with the Countgs a shelter case counselor at the Berks

County Residential Center (“BCRC”) on October 9, 1998. D&8t&ement oFacts(Def.’s

The facts are taken substantially from the parties’ submissions.
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Facts)f 1, ECF No. 31. The BCRC proeisla setting foundocumentedlggal immigrants
seeking aylumto maintain family unity whilehte Department of Homeland Security
Immigrationand Customs Enforcemef@HS-ICE) enforces immigration laws. Def.’s Facts.{ 2
The duties of &helter careounseloare “to provide the children in the shelter care program
with an ongoing understanding of their situation” and to maintain “an atmosphere afysmodr
understanding . . . through continued training and interaction with other social sgemncees.”
SeePl.’s Resp. Def.’s Fac{®l.’s Facts) Ex. CG ECFNo. 33-29.
B. Torres’s leave under the Family and Medical Leave Act

On Febuary 13, 2012, Torres was granted intermitteave undethe Family and
Medical Leae Act (FMLA), 29 U.S.C. 88 260%t seq, for depression and anxiety, providing
her an absare of up to eight hours per episode, three times per week, from January 18, 2012,
through January 17, 2013. Def.’s Facts YHe formthat the County provided to Torres for both
her initial intermittent FMLAleaveapproval and all subsequent reneveiged that Torres was
required to “[f]lollow [her] department’s procedure regarding calling afrdo the start of [her]
shift.” SeeDef.’s Facts 1 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 14.

On January 15, 2013, Tres’s intermitten=MLA leavewas renewedrom January 18,
2013, through January 17, 2014. Def.’s Facts § 6. On August 12, 2013, Torres was approved for
intermittent FMLA leave for hedepression and anxiety from August 1, 2013, through July 31,
2014. Def.’s Facts 1 70n July 16, 2014, Torresintermittent FMLA leavevas reneweérom

August 1, 2014, through July 31, 20T%ef.’s Facts .90n September 9, 2015, Tores

2 This periodof intermittent FMLA leaveappeas to overlap with Torres'mtermittent

FMLA leavefrom January 2013 to January 2014. The parties do not address or explain this
apparent overlap, however, and it is not at issue in this case.
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intermittent FMLA leavevasrenewedrom August 24, 2015, through August 23, 2016. Def.’s
Facts 1 10

On January 27, 2016, Torres provided the County with a request for FdakA
associated with a theimdiagnosed condition which caused diarrhea. Def.’s Facts@nlL1.
February 3, 2016, the County approved Torres to take a leabsarice for surgery associated
with her FMLA~+equested condition for the period from March 2, 2016, through March 8, 2016.
Def.’s Facts { 12

On August 12, 2016, Torresntermittent FMLA leave for her depression and anxiety
was renewedrom August 24, 2016, to August 23, 2017. Def.’s Facts { 14.

From January 1, 2014, until Torres’s termination on August 23, 2016, Torres called off
work usingintermittentFMLA leaveon 128 occasions. Def.’s Facts  15.
C. The County’s and the BCRC's policies and pocedures

Pennsylvaniadw mandates that the BCRi@ve present at the facility a certain number
of counselors per number of residents. Def.’s Facts { 17. Based on these ratios,Ghe8CR
mandate other employees to cover shifts or stay late to make up for an emgioyiedate or
provides for a lateall-off. Def.’s Facts { 19

TheBCRC'’s written Standard Operation Procedures state that employeegeveitle a
minimum onehour notice before the start of the assigned shift to report off for sick lealvs. De
Facts 1 20The County has a writtenfe and Attendance Duplinary Guideline Matrix that
identifies the misconduct and the range of discipline for an offense under eachessinsg
Def.’s Facts T 21The Guideline Matrix indicates the disciplinary actions for late-oé# and
latenesss follows: (i) First Offense- Oral Warning; (ii) Second OffenseWritten Warning;

(i) Third Offense— 1-Day Paper Suspension; (iv) Fourth OffenseBDag-Paper Sugmsion;
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and (v) Fifth Offense — TerminatioBef.’s Facts { 22The Countis Time and Atendance
Policy stateghat“[i]f an employee receives two (2) suspensions under any of trexehtf
categories on the . . . matrix, subsequent violations of any category, which woulthresul
suspension, will result in termination of employment.” Deffasts  23Torres acknowledged
in writing onseveral occasions throughout her employment that she had read the County’s
policies Def.’s Facts | 24
D. The County’s disciplinary actions against Torres

On November 19, 2014, Torres called off wafterthe start of her shifDef.’s Facts
1 262 for which shencurred a late caiff infraction and was disciplined with an oral warning,
Def.’s Facts] 27.Thisdisciplinary action, likell of the subsequent disciplinary actions Torres
received, wasnemorialized by a Disciplinary Action Rep@itepared by the County and signed
by Torres and her supervisbOn February 15, 2015, Torres calledwtirk an hour and forty
minutes after the start of her shior which shencurred another late catiff infraction andvas

disciplined with a written warningoef.’s Factd[| 28-29°

3 Torres denies this asserted fact “as stased’ explains that she was unable to work on

November 19, 2014, due to flare-ups of her medical condition, which also prevented her from
timely calling out on that dat&eePl.’s Facts] 26. But this explanation @fhy Torres called off
after the start of her shift, even assuming it is true, doeactuallydeny that she called off after
the start of her shift, which is the only fact asserted in paragraph 26 of the Cotaigraeht of
Facts.
4 Torressigned all of heDisciplinary Action Repod except for her final repont August
2016, which is discussed below.

> Torres asserts that she was unable to work on this date due to her medical condition,

which also preveted her from timely calling off workn that dateSeePI.’s Facts | 28.
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In addition to theseléte caltoff” infractions, from April 2014 to April 2015 Torres also
accumulated fouflatenesSinfractionsfor arriving at work lateAs a result of the four lateness
infractions,the BCRC disciplined Torres with a three-day suspensidef.’s Facts § 3£

On December 10, 201%prres called off work fifty minutes after the start of her shift,
for which she incurred another late eatf infraction and was disciplined with a odeay paper
suspensionDef.’s Factg[{ 32-33. On January 21, 2016, Torres called off work an hour and
fifteen minutes after the startlwdr shift for which shencurred another late cadiff infraction
andwas disciplined with a threday paper suspensioBef.’s Factd[{ 3435.” This suspension
was the third suspension Torres had received over theopseyear—the other two being the
December 2015 one-day paper suspension for Torres’s late call-off imfimatd the April
2015 three-day suspension for Torres’s lateness infractions.

Joanna Baittinger, the Senior Human ResouraisiAistrator for theCounty, testified
that although “having three suspensions in a 12 month period could lead to termination” under
the County’s policies, the County ultimately decidedite Torresa “last chance final
opportunity” due to the fact that the time and attendgolicy “can be a little complicated.”
Def.’s Facts Ex. 9, Baittinger Dep. Tr. 32:15-33:3, 57:20-58:5, ECF N8. Allast chance
agreemenivas included as part Torredgbruary 2016 Disciplinary Action Reporthich stated
in pertinent paras follows

You are being provided one last opportunity to follow all guidelines per the Time

and Attendance Policy. This is a nprecedent setting opportunity as these

actions could have resulted in your termination of employment. Any other

violations of the Timeand Attendance policy in the next twelve (12) months will
result in your employment being terminated.

6 The four lateness infractiowscurredon April 6, July 31, and October 9, 2014, and April

14, 2015.
! Torres asserts that she was unable to work on this date due to her medical condition,
which also prevented her from timely calling out on that dé¢ePl.’s Facts 1 34.
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Def.’s Facts Ex. 12. Torres signed and acknowledged the Disciplinary ActpmortRieat
contained this last chance agreembBuatf.’s Facts 38
E. Torres’s overtime shift and employment ermination

Torres signed up for, and was awarded, an overtime shift for Friday, July 29, 2016,
starting at 4:15 p.m. Def.’s Facts  39. The “Overtime Distribution Sheet” provideatites
stated the following“If you decidego decline the overtime you have been awarded you are
required to provide written notice, a minimum of 72 hours prior to the start of the shift of
overtime.” Def.’s Facts  4@n Friday, July 29, the date of Torres’s scheduled overtime shift,
she did not arrive on time and did madl off. Def.’s Facts { 41At 4:30 p.m., fifteen minutes
after the start of thehift, the supervisor on at thi@ine, Len Kopetsky, called Torresd left a
message inquiring aboberabsenceDef.’s Facts  4ZTorres called back and told Kopetsky
that she thought her overtime shift was for the following (&&aturday)Def.’s Facts { 43
Torresultimatelyappeared for her overtime shift an hour and fifteen minutes late. Def.’s Facts |
44. Supervisors Tim Phillips and Ben Schneider subsequently had a meetiignetin
which she again indicated that heason for being late was thete thought her overtimeiih
was Saturday instead of Friddyef.’s Facts | 45

On August 2, 3, and 4, 2016, Torres took three daygerimittentFMLA leave. Pl.’s
Factsf 101°

On August 23, 2016, Torres was provided with a Disciplinary Action Report stasing t

her employment was terminated. In pertinent piaet,Report states as follows:

8 The Caunty denies “as stated” this and other asserted facts in paragraph 101 of Torres’s

Statement of Facts, but does not explain the basis for its deeedlef.’s ReplyPl.’s Facts]
101, ECF No. 35.
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On Friday, July 29, 2016, you weasvarded a posted overtime shift starting at
1615 hrs. You did not punch in for this shift until 1730 hrs making you one hour
and fifteen minutes late for the scheduled start time.

On February 8, 2016, you were provided one last opportunity to follow all
guidelines per the Time and Attendance Policy as a result of continuedovislati
This was a noiprecedent setting opportunity that stated that any future Time and
Attendance Policy violations in the next twelve (12) months will result in your
employment being terminated.

This lateness is an infraction of the County of Berks Time and Attendance Policy,
along with your previous infractions; this is the basis for your termination.

Def.’s Facts Ex. 12 at BC 1404, ECF No. 31-12.
F. Torres’s Harassment Allggations

According to Torres, Ralph Maldonado, a maintenance man at Berks County, made
comments to her such as “I cannot believe you're here today, you actuallydsinpweework”
on approximagly six occasions over a sironth period in 2016. Def.’s Facf$6. Dave Davis,
a caworkerof Torres’s allegedly made comments to Torres such as “you are never here” or
“staff are never here” on one occasion in the winter of 2016. Def.’s Facts { 57.nhAtozse,
aDHS-ICE employeanot employed by Berks County, allegedly made comments to Torres such
as “l cannot believe you are here, you're never here” on approximately tdifatgent
occasions within the two years prior to Torres’s terminatiai.’®Facts I 58lames Stednick, a
co-worker of Torres’s, allegly made comments to her such as “I cannot believe you are here,
you’re never here, why don’t you come to work” or “when you come to work youjood
worker. You need to come to work,” four or five times over the 2016 year. Def.’'s Fa@ts
Jamie Himm#berger, a cavorker of Torres’s, allegedly made comments to her such as “l wish |
had a doctor that would put me out of work for one month” on two occasions within the two
weeksfollowing Torres’s returrfrom surgery in March 2016. Def.’s Facts { 60. Nohthese

persons held supervisory positions over Torres during her employment. Def.’s Bacts |
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Torres never told anyone who worked at the BCRC what her qualifying medical
condition was foherFMLA leave Def.’s Facts | 62Brandon Witmer, a supervisof Torres,
allegedly stated “it is a shame that people have diarrhea” one time prior to Maé;ta201
statement that Torres assumed was because of her FMLA papddebik.Facts § 63
G. Procedural History

Torres filed her initial Complaint in this matter in April 2017. She filed an Amended
Complaint in September 2017, alleging that the County discriminated againstakated
against herand subjected her to a hostile work environment on the bases didabilities, in
violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act (AD#and the Pennsylvania Human Relations
Act (PHRA), and that it interfered with her ability to exercise her rights under theAFAnd
retaliated against her for attempting to exercise those righ@ecember 2017, the County filed
the present Motion for Summary Judgment, seeking judgment in its favor on all of§orres
claims.

[I. Standard of Review—Summary Judgment

Summary judgment is appropriate if the moving party “shows that there ennng
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter BétavR.
Civ. P. 56(a). A fact is material if the fact “might affect the outcofde suit under the
governing law,” and a dispute is genuine if “the evidence is such that a reasanabtaujd
return a verdict for the nonmoving partyAhderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248
(1986). When the evidence favoring the nonmg\party is “merely colorable” or “not
significantly probative, summary judgment may be grantiell &t 24950 (citations omitted).

The parties must support their respective contentidhata fact cannot be or is genuinely
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disputed—by “citing to particular parts of materials in the record” or “showing that therralste
cited do not establish the absence or presence of a genuine dispute.” Fed. R. Civ.1B. 56(c)(
V. The County is entitled to summary judgment on each of Torres’s claims.

The County contends that Torres ffaited to set fortta sufficient factual basis for any of
her claimsin particular, the County contends tlitadlid not fail to accommodate Torres’s
disabilities and that it had a legitimatendiscriminatory reason for terminatifgrres’s
employment after her numerous violations of its Time and Attendance Policylamately,her
failure to comply with the last chancgraement. Furthercaording to the Countyorres
cannot show that she was subjected to a hostile work environment on the basis of heydisabilit
as the alleged comments made toward her were not severe or pervasive, nor wesetheg b
her disabilities. Finallythe County contends that it never interfered with Torres’s ability to
exercise her rights under the FMLA, nor did it retaliate against her foy &81LA leave.

Torres responds thahe has set fortsufficient facts to gvail on each of the theories articulated
in her Amended Complaint and addressed in the County’s Moionthe reasons explained
below, the Court finds that the County is entitled to judgment on each of Torres’s. claims

A. Torres cannot point to any evidence from which a reasonable jury could conclude
that the County refused to accommodate her disabilities.

Torres contends théthe primary thrust of her claims” in this lawsistthat the County
refusedo accommodate her disabiliti€3eePl.’s Mem. Opp’n 6, ECF No. 3Zhe Court will
therefore begin by considering this claim. According to Tomtgn she called offiork lateon
November 19, 2014, February 15, 2015, and January 21, 2016, she informed the Gbghiy th

was utilizing sick time and, by so doifdgequested the reasonable accommodation of time off
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for medical reasons due to her disability.” Pl.'s Mem. Opp’T8rres contends thaer
supervisors “conducted no inquirg’s to why sh&vas calling out siclon these datefiadthey
done so, Torres’s supervisors “would have learned that [Torres] was not able to get to a phone
any sooner as a result of her medicaldibons” a condition that they could have reazbly
accommodatedPl.’'s Mem. Opp’n 13° Instead, according Torresthe Couny “failed to
accommodate [hegrin failing to give her any leeway in calling out late on dates which she was
not medically ableo work, and called as soon as she was able to.” Pl.'s Mem. Opp’n 9.

The County contends that, during the period of the disciplinary actions, Torres “was on
FMLA, had additional intermittent FMLA available, anés continually utilizing FMLA:.
Def.’s Reply Br. 2, ECF No. 36. Accordingly, “providiriger] with additional FMLA would
have had no impact on her failure to call off in a timely maniher&t 3. Further, the County
contendghat Torres’does not, and never has asserted, that she advised supervisors that she was
unable to call off onitne because of her disabilityd. The County statethat Torres had
successfully called off in accordance with the County’s time and attendaiester one

hundred time andthatshehadample opportunity to advise the County that her disability

o Torresasserts that steubmitted to the Countyotesfrom Dr. Luciano Migliarinostating

thatTorreswas not medically able to work on these de®e®PI.’s Facts Ex. P, ECF No. 33-16.
Thenote forTorres’s absence ddovember 192014, simply states that “[i]t is my [Dr.
Migliarino’s] medical opinion thafTorres] be excused from work on 11/18/2014 and
11/19/2014.1d. at BC 00184. The note fdorres’s February 15, 2015 absence similarly states
“[i]t is my medical opinion that [Torres] be excused from work 2/15/15 and 2/13dL&f' BC
00181. The note for the January 21, 2016 absence provides some information about the
symptoms that prevented Torres from working on that date, but does not appear hatstate t
Torres’s symptoms would have prevented her from timely calling off from work.

As part of her response to the County’s motion for summary judgments Bobsenitted
an affidavit assertinthat her disabilities prevented her from timely calling off work on the dates
in question, and that she called off as soon as she wasabi.’s Facts Ex. B, Torres Aff.,
ECF No. 33-28As this assertio appears nowhere in the Complaint or Amended Complaint, or
anywhere else in the recofjrior to Torres’s affidavit)the County contends that the Court
should disregard this portion of Torres’s affidavit. The Court declines to do so.
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prevented her from timely calling off, but she never did so. In particular, the Colosgyves
thatthe Disciplinary Action Reports Torres received “clearly identify a spacetade a reason
or response for the offense prior to signing, which Ms. Torres nevéndliat4.

To establish a prima facie case of discrimination undeABw, ** a plaintiff must show
(1) she is a disabled person within the meaning of the ADA;hR)sotherwise qualified to
perform the essential functions of the job, with or without reasonable accomonsdayithe
employer; and (3)l& has suffered dradverse employment decisioas a result of
discrimination.See Williams v. Philadelphia Hous. Auth. Police D0 F.3d 751, 761 (3d
Cir. 2004). “Adverse employment decisions in this context include refusing to makaabte
accommodations for a plaintiff’disabilities.”ld. “Reasonable accommodation” in this context
“includes the employeri®asonable efforts to assist the employee and to communitiatiney
employee in good faith,” . . . under what has beemed a duty to engage in the ‘interactive
process.”ld. (quotingMengine v. Runyqril4 F.3d 415, 416 (3d Cir. 1997n employee can
demonstrate that an employer breached its duty to provide reasonable accoomsbdatiuse
it failed to engage in good faith in the interactive process by showing that:

1) the employer knew about the emplogedisability; 2) the employee requested

acommodations or assistance for his or her disability; 3) the employer did not

make a good faith effort to assist the employee in seeking accommodations; and

4) the employee could have been reasonably accommodated but for the

employer’s lack of good faith.
Id. (quotingTaylor v. Phoenixville Sch. Distl84 F.3d 296, 319 (3d Cir. 1999)).

As part of this interactive procesbetemployee must make clear, either by direct

communication or other appropriate means, that she wants assistance for higydiSaei

Colwell v. Rite Aid Corp.602 F.3d 495, 506 (3d Cir. 2010). The employer “must have enough

1 Torres’s PHRA claims are analyzed coextensively with her ADA claims Kelly v.

Drexel Univ, 94 F.3d 102, 105 (3d Cir. 1996).
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information to know of both the disability and desire for an accommodation, or circunsstance
must at least be sufficient to cause a reasonable employer to make appropriaés ialjout the
possible need for an accommodatida.’(quotingConneen v. MBNA Am. Bank, N.334 F.3d
318, 332 (3d Cir. 2003))[T]he law does not require angrimal mechanism or ‘magic words’ to
notify an employer that an employee needs an accommodation and circusstéinre@metimes
require the employer to meet the employee-halfy, and if it appears that the employee may
need an accommodation but doesn’'t know how to ask for it, the employer should do what it can
to help.”ld. (quotingConneen602 F.3d at 332).

Torres’s argument is somewldfficult to follow, but, as inctatedabove |t appears she
is claiming that byvirtue ofcalling ou sick on the days in questishe requested “the
reasonable accommodation of time off for medical reasémst&by triggeringn obligation on
the County’s part to conduct an “inquiry,” the results of which inquiry would have uncovered the
fact that Torregalled out late due to her disabilities, a condition that the County could have
reasonablyaccommodated by relaxinig requirement that employees call off at least one hour
before thestart of their shiftsThere are mangroblems with lhiis argument. Firsforres’s
calling out sickcannot reasonably be construed as a reqaeahfaccommodatiotf According
to Torres’s own account, on the dates in question she simply informed thiy @airshe was
calling out sick and later submitted supporting doctor’s ndtases does not explain how or

why this should have prompted the County to conduct an inquiry of any sort. Further, according

12 To the extent that Torres is claiming that her request for FMLA leave coedtdu

request for an accommodation, it is true that “a request for FMLA leavejnadify, under

certain circumstances, as a request for a reasonable accommodation under th8e&D2apps

v. Mondelez GlobhLLC, 847 F.3d 144, 156-57 (3d Cir. 2017). But “even assunanggiendo

that [Torres’sJrequests for intermittent FMLA leave constituted requests for a reasonable
accommodatiominder the ADA as well, [the County] continuedagaprove [Torres’sfequested
leave, and indeed, [Torres] took the requested leave. Thus, [the County] provided and [Torres]
received the accommodation [she] asked fBeé id.
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to Torress own argument, the accommodation that she requested by calling out sick was
intermittent time off for medical reasomss the County points out, Torres was alneaeceiving
this accommodatiarin short, Torres’s calling out sick was not a request for an accommodation
and, even if it was, the County provided the requested accommodation.

As for Torres’s argument that the County failed to accommodate heaibggfto give
her any leeway in calling out late on dates which she was not medically able i@nddalled
as soon as she was abl¢ ts the County points out, despite numerous opportunities to do so,
Torres never told the County that her disabilities prevented her from tintkehg adf work, nor
does Torreslaim that thedoctor’s noteshe sbmitted to the County contain such informatidn.
An employee is not required to use “magic wontsorder to request an accommaodation, but
there must beane indication, either from the plaintiff's own statements or the surrounding
circumstances, that atcommodation is needed. Here, Torres can point to nothing in the record
that would have suggested to the County that Torres needed or desirednamadabon with
respect to itgall-off policy. Accordingly,Torres dd not request an accommodatiwith respect
to the County’sall-off policy, and the County’s failure to provideewaywith respecto this
policy (when the need for such leeway was never communicated by Torres or eestesligy
the surrounding circumstances) did nohstitute discrimiation on the basis of Torres’s
disability. The County is therefore entitled to summary judgment on Torres’s failure-

accommodate claims.

13 Torres contends that if she had “known that she would be disciplined for taking time off

for medical reasons, she would have disclosed and discussed her health conditiatisnsmit
and needs.” Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n 7. But, assuming for the sake of argument that Torres was
“disciplined for taking time off for medical reasons” on the dates in question, she Inapé
learned that she would receive such discipline after her first lateftall November 2014.
Despite this knowledge, Torres never informed the County that her disabilitiestpceher
from complying with its calbff policy.
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B. Torres cannot point to any evidence in the record from which a jury could
reasonably find that the Countyretaliated against her for exercising her rights

under the FMLA and the ADA.

As indicated aboveniadditionto her failureto-accommodate claims, Torres also
contends that the County retaliated againstihecause of the time she took off for her healt
conditions,” in violation of both thEMLA and the ADA. Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n 1¥f.Torres argues
that thebasis for this claim is twofold. First, shentends thahe eighteerday proximty
between her January 21, 201€e of intermittent FMLA leave and h&uspension on February 8,
2016, and thaineteenday proximitybetween her August 4, 2016e of intermittenEMLA
leave and her termination on August 23, 2@EL@gesthat she waslisciplined anderminated in
retaliation forrequesting and taking FMLA&ve.SecondTorrescontends thaa consideration
of the“record as a whole” shows thiditere aréiinconsistencies and implausibilities” in the
County’s contention that it terminated her because of her violationThies and Attendance
Policy and thedst chance agreeme®.’s Mem. Opp’nl6. In particular, Torresontends that
the County “essentially picks and chooses when it follows its progressive idisgigolicy and
other policies.” Pl.'s Mem. Opp’n 18. In support of this contentioncétlke thefollowing
exchange from thdeposition of MsBaittinger,the Senior Human Resources Administrator for
the County:

Q: Let’'s say someone is late for a callout but as part of the interactive process

they inform the manager or HiRat they were recéng medical treatment on a

specific date, would the County, as a reasonable accommodation, permit that
under the ADA?

14 As explained above, request for FMLA leave may qualify, under certain circumstances,

as a request for a reasorebccommodation under the ADA, and the Court will assiomine

sake of argumerhat Torres’s requests for FMLA leave constituted requests for accommodation
under the ADABecause the factual basis for Torres’s FMLA retaliation claims and ADA
retaliation claims is the same, the Court analyzes them together.
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A: If they asked for an accommodation, we would provide them paperwork to get

further information. But if they saithey were calling f because she had a

doctor’s appointment, thehwould be up to each individual supervisor to either

ask for a note and determine whether they would mitigate that or not.
Pl.’s Fact€Ex. B., Baittinger DepTr. 44:10-45:8.

Torres also cites the testimy of Benjamin Schneider, a line supervisor for the BCRC,
who stated that although it was not “up to [him]” whether a grace period should be given for t
requirement that an employee call off at least one hour before his or her shiis Freuve if
there’s mitigating circumstances” that a grace period would be provided-&tts Ex. |,
Schneider Deplr. 8:14-9:3. In addition, Torraestes the testimony of DianEdwards, Executive
Director ofthe BCRC, that the Countylduman Resources departméasdiscretion to follow
or not follow the progressive discipline policy and thametimedHuman Resourcegoes not, in
fact, follow the policy.SeePl.’s Facts] 22. And she citegstimony from Ms. Baittinger that
Human Resources has discretion to exeaug¥mination or withhold a termination. Pl.’s Faftts
23.Torres also contends thiéie County violated its own pioies when it terminated héased
in part, on an offense that occurred more than oaelyefore her terminatiomnd when the
County “combin[edunrelated allegediolations.” Pl.’s Mem. Opp’n 18. Finally, Torres
contends that the County could have excused her final lateness infraction (conterdiutyg t
2016 overtime shift), which was “clearly an honest akst on her part, and as a result of which
the County suffered no adverse consequendes.

With respecto Torres’s temporal proximity argument, the County contends that she took
leave under the FMLA on a nearly weekly basis for years and, as a resultjs@ipiirdary
actionstaken against her during her entire employment would have been within a week of her

usage of FMLA.” Def.’s Reply Br. 6. With respect to Torres’s argument tha dloeaty appkd

its policies inconsistently, the County contends that the only alleged instance of such
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inconsistency actually worked in Torres’s favor. That is, as set forth abthaygth the
County’s policies state that the accumulation of three suspensions in one yesguMiin
termination, the County decided in February 2016 to relax this policy in Torree’aicds
provide her with a last chance agreement instead.

Torres’s retaliation claims arise, at least in pamgler the FMLA, which prohibits an
employer from “discriminating or retaliating against an employee or prospestiplyee for
having exercised or attempted to exercise FMLA rigteé29 C.F.R. 88 825.215, 825.220(c).
Since FMLA retaliatiorclaims require proof of the employer’s retaliatory intent, courts have
assessed these claims through the lens of employment dnstron law and, more specifically,
through use of the burden-shifting framework establishé&dicibonnell Douglas Corp. v. Gregn
411 U.S. 792 (1973%ee Capps v. Mondelez GloblL.C, 847 F.3d 144, 151 (3d Cir. 2017).
Under theMcDonnell Douglasramework a plaintiff must first establish a prima facie case of
discrimination. If the plaintiff succeeds, the defendant must articulate a letgitima
nondiscriminatory reason for the adverse employment action. The burden tiebatkfto the
plaintiff to prowe, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the articulated reason was a mere
pretext for discriminatiort®

In order to establish a prima facie cas&W®ILA retaliation, it is the plaintiff's burden to
showthat(1) she invoked her right to FMLAualifying leave, (2) she suffered an adverse
employment decision, and (3) the adverse action was causalgdrédater invocation of rights.

See Lichtenstein v. Univ. of Pittsburgh Med. @81 F.3d 294, 302 (3d Cir. 201%Yith respect

15 Similarly, the burdesshifting framework ofMcDonnell Douglaspplies to ADA

retaliation claimsWilliams v. Phiadelphia Hous. Auth. Police Dep380 F.3d 751, 759 n.3 (3d
Cir. 2004). Further, “an ADA retaliation claim based upon an employee having rebaeste
accommodation does hequire that a plintiff show that he or she is ‘disablealithin the

meaning of the ADA,but rather only “that she had a reasonable, good faith belief that she was
entitled to request the reasonable accommodation she requésted 759 n.2.
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to the third elementfa prima facie casethe causal link between the protected activity and the
adverse action-a plaintiff “generally must showeither (1) an unusually suggestive temporal
proximity between the protected activity and the allegedly retaliattigra or (2) gpattern of
antagonism coupled with timing to establish a causal firsudhun v. Reading Hosp. & Med.
Ctr., 765 F.3d 245, 258 (3d Cir. 2014) (quotlrmuren W. ex rel. Jean W. v. DeFlamjrd80
F.3d 259, 267 (3d Cir. 2007)). “Moreover, causation, like any other fact, can be established from
the evidence gleaned from the record as a wholatson v. Rozun834 F.3d 417, 424 (3d Cir.
2016).

First, with respect to temporal proximigs set forth above, Torrealled off sick late on
January 21, 2016, and was disciplined for tht caltoff on February 8, 2016 hgtook three
days of FMLA leave on August 2, 3, and 4, 2016, wad terminatedn August23, 2016 These
time periods are not, by themselves, unusually suggestive of retaliadiebdul-atif v. Cty.
of Lancaster990 F. Supp. 2d 517, 530 (E.D. Pa. 2014) (“Ordinarily, a period of less than one
week is unusually suggestive. . . . [S]ix days is at the long end of what has been held to be
unusually suggestive.”). But even if these time penmeedse sufficient for Torres to establish a
prima facie case of retaliatiom, light of the surrounding circumstances they do not suffice for
her to establish a genuine dispute of material fact concerning whether the’€ptoftered
reason for hediscipline andterminatior—namely, her violation of the County’s policy’s and
last chance agreementvas pretextual‘Courts have reasoned that prior approval of numerous
FMLA requests counters against attempts to establisexprdarough proximity in time.Garcia
v. Penske ogistics, LLG 165 F. Supp. 3d 542, 562 (S.D. Tex. 20:4f)d sub nom. Garcia v.
Penske Logistics, L.L.(631 F. App’x 204 (5th Cir. 2015) (granting summary judgment in favor

of employer on FMLA retaliation claim where employee was terminated senetdage after
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taking FMLA leave but had requested and was granted FMLA leave tfreattymes over the
previous six years without being disciplinedgre, it is undisputed thaforres’s requests for
FMLA leave were approved in February 2012, January 2013, August 2013, July 2014, and
September 201&ndthat during this period of time, Torres frequently us@dLA leave,
without anyallegations bretaliation.In view of this history of consistent approval arse of
FMLA leave without retaliationa reasonable jury could not find pretext based solely on the
temporal proximity betweehorres’sJanuary 2016 and August 2016 FMLA activity and her
discipline andterminaton. Seg e.g, Distefano v. Essentia Hea]tNo. 12-€V-2868, 2014 WL
3101324, at *8 (D. Minn. July 8, 2014) (granting summary judgment in favor of employer on
FMLA retaliation claimwhere employee was fired on the very day that she exhausted her FMLA
leave, reasoning that because plaintiff had taken FMLA leave on eleven diffecastons
“without a hint of retaliation from” her empley, it was not believable that she would be fired
for exhaustig her remaining medical leav¥).

Nor is Torres able to show causation or pretext from an examination ‘oétoed as a
wholg” as shehas failed to show anyconsistencies or implausibilitiés the County’s
proffered explanation thatdisciplined andegrminated her foviolating its Time and Attendance
Policy and theast chance agreemeithe testimony she cites from Baittinger and Schnieder
simply shows that the County cowdacuse aiolation of its one-hour policy for cabifs if there

were mitigating circumstanceBut this does not, by itself, show any inconsistency on the

16 Torres’s contention that the February 2016 discipline is indicative of retaliat

particularly puzzling. A set forth above, Torres’s late ealf on January 21, 2016, was her

fourth late caHloff since November 2014 and, under the County’s poliées,late caloffs

result in a threglay suspension. As this was the third suspension Torres had accumulated in a
twelve-month period, the County’s poles indicate that she should have beeminated. But,
instead of terminating her, the County proddeer with a last chance agreement in February
2016. Accordingly, the discipline imposed in February 2016 was an instance of the County
varying from its policies in Torres’s favor.
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County’s part, particularly when it is undisputed that Torres never brought @otirey’s
attention the existence of such mitigating circumstgnaashas she pointed to any instances in
which the County treated other employees more favorably in this reSpecktraka v. Comcast
Cable 897 F. Supp. 2d 346, 366 (W.D. Pa. 2012) (finding that evidence that an employer
“permitted its managers and supervisors to exercise a modest degreeatiotiser

admnisterng its attendance policy” is not sufficient, by itself, to shtat the exercise of that
discreton was used as a proxy for . . . discrimination.”).

Likewise,the fact that the County’s Huan Resources department figgtretion to vary
from the progressive discipline policynot, by itself, indicatie of inconsistency. Again,ofres
does not point to any instances in which the County, in the exercise of this discrediteal, tre
other employees more favorably thatréated her. Rathersahe County points out, the only
instance Torres cites in which the County exercised its dischiatibis area wags decision in
February 2016 to provide Torres wdHast chance agreement rather than terminate her for
accumuléing three suspensions in one year, a decision that worked in Torres’s favor.

Torres’s argument that the County failed to follow its own policies is similarly
unavailing. Torres points to the following passage from the County’s Disciplinadelihes
Pdicy: “All disciplinary action shall be considered active for a period ofdr&secutive months
in a compensable status. Should no further disciplinary action be imposed during this 12 month
period, the action taken shall remain a part of the record but shall not be consideredimgimpos
discipline beyond the 12 month deadlin8€ePl.’s Facts] 98. Torres contends that the County
violated this policy when it terminated her employment on August 23, 2016, partially on the
basis ofinfractions that were oveone year old. But it appears that Torres misunderstands the

policy. According to the policy, disciplinary actions expire after one yelgrib“no further
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disciplinary action [is] imposed” during that period. In Torres’s case, bawjmith her initial
disciplinary action in November 2014, Torres never completed a twelve-month pethodtwi
accruingany additionatlisciplinary actionsln any event;[iJt is generally for an employetio
interpret its own policie$ Kidwell v. Eisenhauer679 F.3d 957, 971 (7th Cir. 2012) (quoting
Richey v. City of Independené&s10 F.3d 779, 786 (8th Cir. 2008)), and there is nothing
unreasonable about the County’s interpretabioits policiesin this cag. Moreover, Torres’s
February 201@ast chance agreemenas free from any ambiguity, asciearly stated thatany
future Time and Attendance Policy violations in the next twelve (12) months will resour
employment being terminatedlbrres’s argment that the County “combin[ed] unrelated
alleged violations” is also unavailing, as a review of Torres’s DiscipliAatipn Reports shows
that the County tallied Torres’s lateness infractions separately froratberdlioff infractions.
SeeDef.’s Fats Ex. 12.

Finally, Torresmaybe correct that her final infraction was based on an honest mistake
that the County could have excused, particularly in light of Torres’s seveygaetenure at the
County. But this honest mistake was preceded by a history of lateness infraotiboses’s
part. Moreover, “[t]o discredit the employer’s proffered reason . . . the plaiatiffat simply
show that the employer’s decision was wrong or mistaken, since the faspuakdt issue is
whether discriminatory animus motivated the employer, not whether the emislayise,
shrewd, prudent, or competenElientes v. Perski&g2 F.3d 759, 765 (3d Cir. 1994ge
Forrester v. Rauland-Borg Corpd53 F.3d 416, 418 (7th Cir. 2006) (“[T]he question is never
whether tle employer was mistaken, cruel, unethical, out of his head, or downright irrational in
taking the action for the stated reason, but simgigther the stated reason was [the employer’s]

reason: not a good reason, but the true reasétather, the nonmoving plaintiff must
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demonstrate such weaknesses, implausibilities, inconsistencies, incaggrencontradictions
in the employess proffered legitimate reasons for its action that a reasonable facttoddr
rationally find them unworthy of credence and hence infer that the employer dict fartthe
asserteahondiscriminatory reasonsFuentes 32 F.3d at 76%emphasis omittedEven if the
County’s decisiorto terminate Torres’employmentvasunjust orlacking in mercyTorres has
failed topoint to any Weaknesses, implausibilities, ortsistencies, incoherencies, or
contradictions” in the County’s explanation for that decision.

In sum, this Court has considered the record as a whole, including the temporaltgroximi
between Torres’s pretted conduct and her discipline and termination, and the purported
inconsistencies and implausibities cited by Torres. Having done so, the Couudesritiat
Torres hadailed to show sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could findhérat
protected activity causdter discipline and termination. Nor has she shown that a reasonable
jury could findthatthe County’s proffered reason for Torresliscipline andermination was
pretextual. Accordingly, the County is entitled to summary judgment on Toretalg@tion
claims?’

C. Torres cannot point to any evidence in the record from which a jury could
reasonably find that the County interfered with her FMLA rights.

Torres contends that the County interfered with her FMLA rights when iptiisil her

for calling off worklate during periods in which she had been approved for FMLA |eEwe.

17 In addition to her claim that the County terminated her in retalifdiorequesting an

accommodation for her disability, Torres also claims that the Countyniaedi hesimply on

the basis of her disability, in violation of the ADA and the PHR@. this claim she relies on the
same arguments as those presented in supploerr retaliation claim. Accordingly, his claim
fails for the same reasons that her retaliation ddaited, as Torres has failed to point to
evidence from which a jury could reasonably find that the County terminated ©artlkes basis
of her disabity.
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County contends that Torres was disciplined and terminated for her failure to itslibhme and
Attendance policies, not for taking FMLA leave.

The FMLA prohibits any employer from interfering with, restraining, or denyirey
exercise of, or the attempt to exercise, any right provided by the Act. 29.18.3625(a)(1).
Interfering wth the exercise of an employseights includes not only refusing to authorize
FMLA leave, but alsaliscouraging an employee from using such leave. 29 C.F.R. § 825.220(b).
To prove an FMLA interference claim, “a plaintiff must show that: (1) she an eligible
employee under the FMLA,; (2) the defendant wasmployesubject to the FMLAS
requirements; (3) the plaintiff was entitled to FMLA leave; (4) the plaintiff getee to the
employer of her intention to take FMLA leave; and (5) the plaintiff was denied tsetwefvhich
she was entitled under the FMLAAtchion v. Sears666 F. Supp. 2d 477, 488 (E.D. Pa. 2009).

In light of the fact that Torres was granteddlthe FMLA leaveshe requested, the only
possible sources of interference are (1) shatwaddisciplined oterminated afteshe was
graned intermittent leave, and (2) she wiscouraged from taking FMLA leavBeeCalero v.
Cardone Indus., IngNo. CIV.A. 11-3192, 2012 WL 2547356, at *16 (E.D. Pa. June 29, 2012).
With respect to the first theory, as explained abaveasonable jury in this caseuld reah
only one conclusion: the County terminated Tofoeder violation of its Time and Attendance
policies and the last chance agreement, not for her FMLA activieis.respect to the second
theory, Torres does not claim that she was discedr&om taking leave, nor is there evidence
in the record to support this theory. Accordingly, the County is entitled to summamggatign

Torres’s FMLA interference claim.
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D. Torres cannot point to any evidence in the record from which a jury could
reasonably find that the County subjected Torres to a hostile work environment

Torres contends that she was subjected to a hostile work environment on the basis of her
disabilities whershe was “criticized and ridiculed by hereworkers for having FMLA-
approved leave.SeePl.’s Factsf 74. As detailed above, Torres’s coworkers allegedly made

comments such as “oh, you're here today,” “oh, you showed up todagy,“you actually work

here,” “oh, you made it to work today,” and “l wish | had a doctor that would put me out of work
for one month.” In addition, Torres’s supervisor, Brandon Witmer, allegedly told het ithaa
shame that people have diarrhédFurther, Torres cites the testimony of Linda Eckstrom, a
former shelter counselor for the County, who stated that she heard staff mermabersagative
comments about Torres’s use of FMLA leave in the presence of supervisors, who didiand sa
nothing in response. Pl.’s Facts Ex. L, Eckstrom Aff., ECF No. 33-d2es also cites the
testimony of Ben Schneider, a supervisor, who stated that sometime around 2015, TerEs ca
him to complain about her coworkers making negative comments about her attendance or use of
FMLA, but “she didn’t give me any details as far as who, when asked.” Pl.’sBacks

Schneider Dep. 24:19-25:20, ECF No. 33-9. And she cites the testimony of Brandon Witmer,
also a supervisor, who stated that Torres’s coworkers complained to him “due to the added

workload for some of her calloffsPl.’s Facts Ex. HWitmer Dep.Tr. 20:18-23, ECF No. 33-

8.19

18 Witmer denies bothat he made this statement and that he was aware of Torres’s

condition. See Def.’s Br. Supp. Mot. 10-11, ECF No. 30.

19 In addition to these comments allegedly made in Ta@®sence, Torres also testified
that a number of additional commenisre overheard by a coworker named Tina Pia, who
subsequently reported the comments to ToBesPl.’s Factsf 74. The Court places little
weight on these statemsphowever, not only because of their second-hand nature but also
because Torres’s description of these commemagae: “From what | can recall, [Pia] would
say that they would laugh and joke about me not really being sick or taking advaniaggeoof t
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The County contends that the alleged comments are related to Torres’s abaentdeis
her disability, and that there is no evidence thatpersons who made the alleged comments
knew about her alleged disability. Further, the County contends that the allégetkesta are
neither severe nor pervasive. The County also contends that, with the exception ef, Waime
of the alleged harasss were supervisors, and Torres cannot show that the County was negligent
in failing to discover or respond to the harassment. Finally, the County dhgid®rres never
filed a complaint about alleged harassing conduct, despite her knowledge of thg<ou
harassment policy, which provided an avenue for such complaints.

To succeed on a hostile work environment claim under the ADA, the employee must
show the following five factors:

(1) [she] is a qualified individual with a disability under the ADR) she was

subject to unwelcome harassment; (3) the harassment was based on her disability

or a request for an accommodation; (4) the harassment was sufficiently severe or

pervasive to alter the conditions of her employment and to create an abusive
working environment; and (5) [the employer] knew or should have known of the
harassment and failed to take prompt effective remedial action.
Ballard-Carter v. Vanguard Grp.703 F. App’x 149, 151 (3d Cir. 2017) (quotialton v.
Mental Health Ass’n168 F.3d 661, 667 (3d Cir. 1999)). The alleged harassment “must be so
severe or pervasive that it altelng tconditions of the [plaintif§] employment and creates an
abusive environment¥Weston v. Pa251 F.3d 420, 426 (3d Cir. 2001). To determine whether
comments were severe or pervasive, courts evaluate “the frequency of the datorymin

conduct; its severity; whether it is physically threatening or humiliating or aofferesive

utterance; and whether it unreasdgabterferes with the employegework perbrmance.”

just basically not takigp my FMLA serious or just thinking it is-that | utilize time that |
shouldn’t have.” Pl.’s Facts Ex. A, Torres Dep. 109:5-9.
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Whitesell v. Dobson Comm¢'853 F.App’x. 715, 717 (3d Cir. 2009) (citingaragher v. City of
Boca Raton524 U.S. 775, 787-88 (1998)).

First, as the County points out, most of #ikeged statements simply comment
Torres’s frequent absers&rom work and say nothing about her disabilitgeed, there is no
evidence in the record thte coworkers alleged to have made most of the comments—Ralph
Maldonado, Dave Davis, and James Stednick—even km&Wworres was disabled. Under these
circumgances, the comments attributed to Maldonado, Davis, and Stednick cannot be said to be
based on Torres’s disabilitgee Barclay v. AmtraR40 F. App’x 505, 509 (3d Cir. 2007)
(obseving that the Third Circuit hdsejected a theory of harassment so braado dictate that
any time a supervisor harasses an employee for absences the employee claim®are du
disability, that harassment is based on the employee’s disability under thg &lidihg Walton
168 F.3d at 664, 6§7Even if Torres could shothat the alleged comments were made on the
basis of her disability, she cannot show that the alleged commemtseweere or pervasive. The
comments were occasional in nature and, in any case, were not offensive, ath@gaimply
remarkedonthe factthat Torres was often absent from wdtk.

Theonly commentsrguably based on Torres’s disabibiethose attributed to Jamie
Himmelberger‘( wish | had a doctor that would put me out of work for one month.”) and to
Brandon Witmer ("l is a $lame thapeople have diarrhea.”)h€se comments were neither
severe nor pervasive. Himmelberger's alleged remarksrhave to do with Torres’s absences
than her disability and Witmer’s singddleged remark, while inappropriate and unkivdsnot,

either in itself or in combination with the other remarks attribtieBorres’s coworkers, so

20 One of theeommens attributed to James Stednick veasuallyencouraging in nature,

telling Torres that “[when you cae to wak you're a good worket
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severe as to alter the conditions of her employment. Accordingly, the Cowmitytisd to
summary judgment on Torres’s hostile work environment claim.

V. Conclusion

Forthe reasons set forth above, the County’s Motion for Summary Judgment is granted.

A separate order follows.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Joseph F. Leeson, Jr.
JOSEPH F. LEESON, JR.
United States District Judge
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